### IN THE SUPREME COURT / COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**TERRY STEIN** 

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-00820

KAREN STEIN

**APPELLEE** 

#### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:

J. PEYTON RANDOLPH, II (MSB LAW OFFICES OF J. PEYTON RANDOLPH, II 613 STEED ROAD RIDGELAND, MISSISSIPPI 39157 TELEPHONE (601) 605-8537 FACSIMILE (601) 605-8539

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law and applied an erroneous legal standard in granting Wife a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.
- II. The Chancellor committed manifest error in creating several key inferences in his final opinion, which stood in stark contrast to the substantial, credible evidence in the record.
- III. The Judgment of Divorce should be denied; however, in the alternative, should the Judgment stand, the division of marital assets should be revised to take into account Wife's dissipation of marital assets.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Nature of the Case

This Court is being asked to render the Judgment of Divorce between Terry and Karen Stein void. In the alternative, if the Judgment should stand, this Court is being asked to revise the division of marital assets to take into account Wife's dissipation of marital assets, both during the marriage and subsequent separation.

#### 2. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

On the 5<sup>th</sup> day of October, 2006, Ms. Karen Stein ("Karen" and/or "Wife") filed a Complaint for Divorce and Motion for Temporary Relief against Mr. Terry Stein ("Terry" and/or "Husband") in the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, alleging habitual cruel and inhuman treatment and caused process to be served

soon thereafter. (C.P. 1.) Terry then filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to said Complaint on the 19<sup>th</sup> day of December, 2006, denying any entitlement to a divorce. (C.P. 8.) Karen later requested leave from the Court and the Court allowed an Amended Complaint for Divorce to be filed on or about the 5th day of April, 2007, in which Karen further alleged habitual drunkenness in addition to the original allegation. (C.P. 15.) Terry answered the same, again denying any entitlement to a divorce. Karen later filed a Complaint for Partition of Real Estate in a new cause number, against Terry and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, seeking the partition of the marital residence, undeveloped real property located in Hinds County, Mississippi, and undeveloped real property located in Jefferson Davis County. Mississippi. (C.P. 21.) An Agreed Order Consolidating Cases was entered on August 6, 2007. (C.P. 26.) This matter was tried on August 8 and December 10, 2007, following which, on December 27, 2007, the Court rendered its Memorandum Opinion. (C.P. 27.) This was followed on January 31, 2008, by the filing of the Final Judgment of Divorce. (C.P. 65.) On February 11, 2008, Terry filed his Motion to Reconsider. (C.P. 74.) The Court rendered its Memorandum Opinion of Court Concerning the Defendant's Motion to Reconsider on April 10, 2008. (C.P. 79.) And finally, on April 18, 2008, an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Reconsider and Amended Final Judgment and Memorandum Opinion of this Court was entered. (C.P. 97.)

#### 3. Statement of the Facts

Terry and Karen Stein were married in Prentiss, Mississippi on the 30<sup>th</sup> day of May, 1981, and separated in Hinds County, Mississippi on or about the 21<sup>st</sup> day of September, 2006. (C.P. 28.) During the marriage, they had two children, Nicholas, born on the 28<sup>th</sup> day of

February, 1984, who was 23 years old at the time of the hearings and emancipated by age, and Lindsey, born on the 19<sup>th</sup> day of November, 1987, who was 20 years old at the time of the hearings. (C.P. 28.)

Throughout their marriage, Terry had worked as an electrician, the majority of which he was employed by Klinger Electric. Terry financially supported his family and contributed to the household responsibilities. He also took time to spend with his children, by coaching his son in little league, attending their band activities, teaching both children how to repair cars, shooting fireworks, watching movies, and simply participating in all other daily activities with his children that fathers who worked would normally do. Although Karen alleges that the children moved away from the marital home as a result of Terry's behavior, each child separately testified they left the home for other reasons instead. (T. 158 & 171.)

While Terry was a dedicated employee of one company for the vast majority of this marriage, Karen held numerous jobs. Normally she was employed as a nurse and she typically worked in psychiatrics. Karen was released from one of her positions at the University Medical Center, because she was engaging in an affair with another co-worker, and she was also released from another job, because some medications were unaccounted for and it was assumed that she took them.

The parties had a unique financial situation during their marriage, in that they each had their own checking accounts. Karen has continually complained about the parties' management of finances during the marriage; however, the parties divided financial obligations among themselves in what they apparently deemed to be an equal fashion. In spite of this equal division, and the fact that Karen was employed for the majority of their marriage, Karen failed

to save for her retirement and instead chose to spend the money she earned on personal assets for herself, such as clothes and alcohol. Conversely, in addition to meeting his agreed financial obligations, Terry chose to save some money and he accumulated a retirement account for himself.

Karen testified that she battled depression throughout their marriage and that she took anti-depressants to deal with post-partum depression. She also testified that she had high blood pressure from stress-induced hypertension. (T. 70.) Nonetheless, these medical issues were not corroborated by expert medical or psychological testimony. Karen also testified that the anxiety associated with her marriage caused her to lose weight; however, evidence of diet pills found in the couple's home was introduced at the hearing, which indicated that Karen's weight loss was the result of measures she was purposely taking instead. (T. 89.)

Karen admitted that she would sometimes take medications home from some of the places she worked, including various mood and/or mind-altering medications. (T. 87.) At the insistence of her father and sister, K aren was admitted to a rehabilitative program at St. Dominic's Hospital for alcohol and prescription medicine abuse. While Karen was in rehab, Terry cared for the children and continued to financially support his family. (T. 207.) Terry was also supportive of his wife's efforts to maintain a clean lifestyle after she returned home.

Karen testified extensively that she took off of work for two weeks without pay to be with her dying father. She also testified that during this time, Terry failed to visit her and that he refused to pay her portion of the household expenses for the month, forcing her to borrow money from her mother. Their daughter, Lindsey, contradicted her mother's testimony when she testified separately that Karen did not take off two weeks from work to visit her dying

grandfather. Lindsey testified that her mother may have missed a few days of work during those two weeks, but usually she would go to work for the day, and then would visit her father after work.

Karen testified that Terry's conduct on a few instances entitled her to a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. Specifically, Karen testified about a time when the two of them were at the Reservoir with friends, sometime in 1987, and Terry allegedly popped her on the back of her legs with a wet towel. There was also a particular time, sometime in the 1980's, when Terry allegedly gave her a black eye. And after the couple had been married for a couple of years, either in 1982 or 1983, Terry allegedly threw a plate of food at Karen. There was one incident sometime prior to Karen entering rehab which resulted in the police being called to the marital home; however, this was largely the result of Karen's own intoxication.

Karen also testified that Terry would yell at her and say demeaning things to her, in the presence of one or both of their children. (T. 64-65.) Each child separately testified that neither of them ever saw or heard their father treat their mother in this manner. (T. 160 & 182.) Even if the evidence of the prior incidents is taken as true, the incidents occurred years ago and are not causally related to the demise of the parties' marriage.

In regards to Terry's drinking, Karen testified that Terry consumed beer on a daily basis; however, there was no evidence that Terry habitually consumed alcohol to the point of intoxication. (T. 74.) The Stein children each testified separately that neither of them recalled a time when their father was intoxicated. (T. 162-163 & 183-184.) Furthermore, Karen consumed alcohol with Terry on numerous occasions, both before and after she was in rehab at

St. Dominic's. Importantly, if the evidence of Terry's drinking habits is taken as true, then Karen knew of such habits prior to their marriage, which indicates that she had ante-nuptial knowledge. Ante-nuptial knowledge serves as a successful defense to a divorce on these grounds.

Terry is not seeking a divorce from Karen, and certainly Terry does not feel that Karen is entitled to a divorce from him, on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, habitual drunkenness or otherwise. Furthermore, Terry is entitled to the defense of recrimination due to the fact Karen carried on adulterous affairs during the course of this marriage. Oddly, the Court seemed to take no notice of the fact that Karen openly testified that at the time of the hearing she was currently dating a man named Dennis. Furthermore, she openly admits that this paramour had sent her cards and flowers, and had even flown her out of town to meet up with him. (T. 103-104.)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Court below should be reversed as the Chancellor erred as a matter of law by granting Karen a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. In rendering said divorce, the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. The alleged conduct of Terry was too remote in time to be considered in rendering a divorce on these grounds and, furthermore, the alleged conduct was not sufficiently cruel, nor habitual, to constitute said grounds for divorce. Additionally, there is no causal connection between the alleged conduct of Terry, nor its subsequent impact on Karen, and the divorce. Also, the Chancellor committed manifest error in creating several key inferences in his final opinion.

which stood in stark contrast to the substantial, credible evidence on the record. The Chancellor improperly presumed that because Terry could not affirmatively deny committing the alleged acts, he must have committed them and Karen's testimony was not sufficiently corroborated.

For these reasons, the Judgment of Divorce should be rendered void in its entirety. Terry is, and has been, contesting the divorce and therefore the instituting of a no fault divorce would be improper. Additionally, it was manifest error for the Chancellor to erroneously disregard Terry's claim of recrimination. As an alternative to rendering the divorce void, the division of marital assets should be revised to take into account Karen's dissipation of marital assets.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In most cases the appellate court will not disturb the chancellor's opinion when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Holloman v. Holloman*, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss. 1996).

Specifically with regard to the modification of the division of marital assets, it has been held that, "[The Mississippi Supreme Court] employs a limited standard of review of property division and distribution in divorce cases." *Bowen v. Bowen*, 982 So.2d 385, 394 (Miss. 2008) citing *Owen v. Owen*, 928 So.2d 156, 160 (Miss. 2006). Further, "[the

Mississippi Supreme Court] has repeatedly stated that the chancellor's division and distribution will be upheld if it is supported by substantial credible evidence." *Id.* 

Regarding a claim of cruel and inhuman treatment, "the chancellor's determination of whether a spouse's conduct rose to the level of cruel and unusual treatment is a determination of law." *Kumar v. Kumar*, 976 So.2d 957, 960 (Miss.App. 2008) citing *Potts v. Potts*, 700 So.2d 321, 322 (Miss. 1997); *Reed v. Reed*, 839 So.2d 565, 569 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). This Court conducts a de novo review for questions of law. *Kumar* at 960 citing *Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc.*, 826 So.2d 719, 721 (Miss. 2002). Therefore, "such a finding is reversible if the chancellor employed an erroneous legal standard." *Kumar* at 960 citing *Potts v. Potts*, 700 So.2d 321, 322 (Miss. 1997).

### II. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN GRANTING WIFE A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT

Several factors have been used by courts of this state in arriving at the determination that a divorce shall be granted on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. The factors incorporate elements of timing, severity and causal connection. These elements have been emphasized to different degrees based on the specific facts of the particular case at hand; however, it seems clear that none of them are met by Husband's alleged acts.

# A. THE ALLEGED CONDUCT OF HUSBAND WAS NOT HABITUAL AND WAS TOO REMOTE IN TIME TO BE CONSIDERED IN RENDERING A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT

In establishing the basis for her argument that she was entitled to divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, Karen relied substantially on allegations of conduct on the part of Terry which occurred in 1982 or 1983, and 1987. This alleged

conduct, if accurate, is too remote in time to be considered in rendering a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment in 2008. In fact, the Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled as such with regard to far more contemporaneous conduct. In *Bland v. Bland* it was held that allegations of cruel and inhuman treatment which occurred 10 years prior to the date of separation were not sufficient to warrant a divorce on those grounds. *Bland v. Bland*, 620 So.2d 543, 544 (Miss. 1993). Specifically the court stated that said conduct, "does not constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment as it was too remote in time and did not lead to the separation." *Id* at 545.

Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court held in *Talbert v. Talbert*, a case involving a similar set of facts, that the husband's conduct early on during the couple's 27 year marriage did not constitute habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. That court went on to state that the fact that the husband may be insensitive did not amount to proof of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. *Talbert v. Talbert*, 759 So.2d 1105 (Miss. 1999).

Indeed it is true that, "although a single incident may provide the grounds for divorce, as a general rule the charge of cruel and inhuman treatment is not established by a single act or an isolated incident." *Ellzey v. Ellzey*, 253 So.2d 249, 250 (Miss. 1971) citing *Stockton v. Stockton*, 203 So.2d 806 (Miss. 1967); *McBroom v. McBroom*, 58 So.2d 831 (1952); *Manning v. Manning*, 160 Miss. 318, 133 So. 673 (1931); *Johns v. Johns*, 57 Miss. 530 (1879). Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that, "[h]abitual cruel and inhuman treatment may be established only by a continuing course of conduct on the part of the offending spouse which was so unkind, unfeeling or brutal as to endanger, or put one in reasonable apprehension of danger to life, limb or health, and further, that such course of

conduct must be habitual, that is, done so often, or continued so long that it may reasonably be said a permanent condition." *Holliday v. Holliday*, 776 So.2d 662, 677 (Miss. 2000) citing *Robison v. Robison*, 722 So.2d 601, 603 (Miss. 1998). The alleged conduct of Terry meets none of these descriptions.

### B. THE ALLEGED CONDUCT OF HUSBAND WAS NOT SUFFICIENTLY CRUEL, NOR HABITUAL, TO CONSTITUTE HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT

Assuming the allegations regarding Terry's conduct to be true, said conduct was not sufficiently cruel, nor habitual, to constitute cruel and inhuman treatment. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that, "[t]he divorce grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment may be established by a showing of conduct that either (1) endangers life, limb, or health, or creates a reasonable apprehension of such danger, rendering the relationship unsafe for the party seeking relief, or (2) is so unnatural and infamous as to make the marriage revolting to the non-offending spouse and render it impossible for that spouse to discharge the duties of marriage, thus destroying the basis for its continuance." *Richard v. Richard*, 711 So.2d 884, 890 (Miss. 1998) citing *Daigle v. Daigle*, 626 So.2d 140, 144 (Miss. 1993). In this regard, the facts of the case speak for themselves. The majority of the alleged conduct occurred over twenty years ago. Yet Karen remained married to Terry. Clearly Karen was neither subjectively nor objectively placed in reasonable fear of life, limb or health, nor was the basis for continuing the marriage destroyed.

Additionally, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that, "[o]ur cases require more than mere unkindness, rudeness, or incompatibility to support the granting of a divorce on the grounds of 'cruel and inhuman treatment.'" *Robinson v. Robinson*, 722 So.2d 601, 603

(Miss. 1998) citing *Brooks v. Brooks*, 652 So.2d 1113, 1124 (Miss. 1995). Furthermore, "The fact that one spouse eventually grows weary of the other's established behavior pattern does not give rise to the requisite standard for habitual cruel and inhuman treatment." *Talbert v. Talbert*, 759 So.2d 1105, 1109 (Miss. 1999).

C. THERE IS NO CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN THE ALLEGED CONDUCT OF HUSBAND, NOR ITS SUBSEQUENT IMPACT ON WIFE, AND THE DIVORCE

"A causal connection between the treatment and separation must exist." *Richard v. Richard*, 711 So.2d 884, 890 (Miss. 1998) citing *Gardner v. Gardner*, 618 So.2d 108, 114 (Miss. 1993). It is true that no longer does this court require the specific act to be the proximate cause of the separation. *Id.* Rather, in implementing a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, the courts will look for, "habitual or continuous behavior over a period of time, close in proximity to the separation, or continuing after a separation occurs." *Id.* As has been discussed in the preceding paragraphs, the alleged conduct of Terry was neither habitual nor continuous, nor was it close in proximity to the parties' separation.

- III. THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN CREATING SEVERAL KEY INFERENCES IN HIS FINAL OPINION, WHICH STOOD IN STARK CONTRAST TO THE SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD
  - A. THE CHANCELLOR IMPROPERLY PRESUMED THAT BECAUSE HUSBAND COULD NOT AFFIRMATIVELY DENY COMMITTING THE ALLEGED ACTS, HE MUST HAVE COMMITTED THEM

Karen alleged that in one instance of abuse Terry gave her a black eye. (T. 35.) This apparently took place in either 1982 or 1983. At a hearing on this matter, Terry was questioned on direct examination whether he remembered his wife having a black eye, at a

time approximately 25 years ago. In responding Terry noted that he was almost 52 and that his memory had been failing but that he could not remember it. (T. 209.) He was then specifically questioned, "[b]ut you would think you would remember if your wife had a black eye, even 25 years ago?" Terry responded, "Yes." (T. 209.)

Terry's testimony, coupled with the testimony of the parties' two children, placed into serious doubt the truthfulness of Karen's allegations. Furthermore, a motive for Karen to attempt to break the marital bond between the parties was established at the hearing when she admitted that she was presently dating a man named Dennis. Karen continued to explain that her paramour had sent her cards and flowers, and had even flown her to meet him. (T. 103-104.)

Contrary to such information, the Chancellor states in his Memorandum Opinion that, "one would believe if you didn't hit, belittle, or harm your wife over these 26 years of marriage that you would remember and could affirmatively deny the same." (C.P. 35-36). This inference by the Chancellor was mere speculation or conjecture, and as such, was not part of the record on which the Chancellor could base his decision. *Rodgers v. Taylor*, 755 So.2d 33, 38 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999).

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