# IN THE SUPREME COURT OR COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TERRY STEIN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO.: 2008-CA-00820

KAREN STEIN

**APPELLEE** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Karen Stein Plaintiff/Appellee

Terry Stein
Defendant/Appellant

Hon. Debra L. Allen Attorney for Karen Stein

Hon. J. Peyton Randolph, II Attorney for Terry Stein

Honorable Dewayne Thomas Chancellor, Hinds County Chancery Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Karen Stein presented a myriad of corroborated facts to prove the grounds for divorce of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. Those facts are well documented by the Chancellor in his lengthy Memorandum Opinion which was adopted by reference in the Judgment of Divorce.

The Court below did not apply an erroneous legal standard and very clearly set out what the applicable law and burden of proof were and adhered to those standards.

Terry Stein alleges that the Court below "committed manifest error in creating several key inferences" by "presuming that because Terry could not affirmatively deny committing" certain alleged acts, that Terry must have committed them. The Court committed no error and only made the point, as put another way, that Terry Stein did not deny or refute certain allegations of fact proven by Karen and which supported her evidence of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

As to the defense of recrimination, the Chancellor ruled correctly and in strict accordance with applicable law. Further, the Chancellor is granted great discretion in applying the law of

recrimination to deny a party a divorce where it finds that the party seeking the divorce has committed some fault sufficient to equate to grounds for divorce. Here, there was insufficient proof of any conduct sufficient to constitute grounds. The Chancellor was well within his broad discretion to deny application of the defense of recrimination.

The Chancellor was within his discretion to award an almost fifty-fifty division of the parties' marital assets.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in domestic relations cases is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. *Mizell v. Mizell*, 708 So.2d 55, 59 (Miss.1998). The appellate Court will not disturb a Chancellor's findings unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Id.* at 59 "This court will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor 'even if this Court disagrees with the lower court on the findings of fact and might . . . [arrive] at a different conclusion." *Owen v. Owen*, 798 So.2d 394, 397-98 (Miss. 2001) (quoting *Richardson v. Riley*, 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss.1978)). The burden of proof in a habitual cruel and inhuman treatment case is a preponderance of evidence. *Daigle v. Daigle*, 626 So.2d 140, 144 (Miss.1993).

A Chancellor's finding that this standard of proof is satisfied is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. *Wright v. Wright*, 823 So.2d 586, 587 (Miss Ct.App.2002) (citing *Snoddy v. Snoddy*, 791 So.2d 333, 344 (Miss.Ct.App.2001)).

II. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW; THE CHANCELLOR APPLIED THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD IN GRANTING KAREN STEIN A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT

Karen has introduced sufficient evidence to obtain a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.

#### A. GENERAL STANDARDS:

The well known definition of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment is:

Habitual cruel and inhuman treatment may be established only by a continuous course of conduct on the part of the offending spouse which was so unkind, unfeeling or brutal as to endanger, or put one in reasonable apprehension of danger to life, limb or health, and further, such conduct must be habitual, that is, done often enough or so continuously that it may reasonably be said to be a permanent condition. Our cases require more than mere unkindness, rudeness, or incompatibility to support the granting of a divorce on the grounds of cruel and inhuman treatment. On the other hand, habitual ill-founded accusations, threats and malicious sarcasm, insults and verbal abuse may cause such mental suffering as to destroy health and endanger the life of an innocent spouse. ...

The Court is to employ a subjective standard "[b]ecause we have held that the impact of the conduct on the plaintiff suing for divorce under these grounds is crucial, we employ a subjective standard." *Holladay v. Holladay*, 776 So.2d 662, 667 (Miss.2000)

The subjective standard imposed in cases of habitual, cruel and inhuman treatment was again emphasized in the case of *Reed v. Reed*, 839 So 2d 565, 571 (Miss Ct App. 2003), wherein the Court Of Appeals stated, "Whether the conduct imposed by the offending spouse warrants a divorce for cruelty depends on the conduct's effect on the suffering spouse. *Mitchell*, 823 So.2d 568, at 571 (Miss Ct App. 2002). The negative impact upon the complaining spouse may be to their physical or mental health." *Rakestraw v. Rakestraw*, 717 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998).

#### The Court in *Reed* further stated:

In *Bullock*, 699 So.2d at 1210, the court emphasized Mrs. Bullock's medical condition. She was hospitalized for depression and had attempted suicide. *Id.* She also went through counseling and had bouts with hyperventilation, high blood pressure, and

stomach problems as a result of her unhappiness with the marriage and her husband's demeaning behavior. *Reed* at 571.

The Chancellor took into consideration the cumulative nature of Terry Stein's acts. In the case of *Savell v. Savell*, 240 So.2d 628, 629 (Miss.1970) our Supreme Court stated:

It is obvious that habitual cruel and inhuman treatment may consist of repeated acts of the same nature such as personal violence, or it may consist of a series of acts, some of the same nature and some of different natures, but which, when taken together, tend to cause pain and suffering on the part of the innocent spouse. There are many kinds of acts such as wilful failure to support, verbal abuse, neglect, and the like which, if taken alone will not constitute cruelty, but when taken together will manifest a course of conduct as a whole which may amount to cruelty. \* \* \* (Bunkley and Morse's, Amis Divorce and Separation in Mississippi, § 3.14 [8], p. 122 ([1957]). See also Sandifer v. Sandifer, 215 Miss. 414, 61 So.2d 144 (1952); Smith v. Smith, 40 So.2d 156 (Miss.1949); and Manning v. Manning, 160 Miss. 318, 133 So. 673 (1931).

- B. SPECIFIC CASE LAW APPLICABLE TO THE STEIN MATTER:
- 1. In the case of *Rakestraw v. Rakestraw*, 717 So. 2d 1284 (Miss CA 1998) the Court found that certain actions were part of the cumulative acts of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, saying, "He frequently belittled Rebecca before family and friends by referring to her as 'stupid' or 'ignorant.' While Rebecca admitted to occasionally returning these insults, his unkind behavior extended beyond mere bickering. Although there is no confirmation that he ever struck his wife, William was prone to throwing household items about during what might best be described as temper tantrums."
- 2. Most recently, our Court has ruled in the case of *Cassell*, 2007MSCA 2006-CA-01001-121107 that evidence presented was sufficient to prove habitual, cruel and inhuman treatment:

At trial, Mary Lou testified that Nolen was emotionally and mentally abusive throughout the course of the marriage. According to Mary Lou, Nolen cursed her, called her names, berated her, and kept her diabetes medicine away from her. She testified that her husband also threw things during arguments and, on one occasion, he threw a filing cabinet across the laundry room that barely missed the couple's adult son, Matthew Cassell.

Mary Lou testified that her husband's behavior had an adverse affect on her mental and physical well-being. In June 2004, she experienced an anxiety attack, requiring emergency medical attention, that she attributed to her husband's conduct and all of the stress from the marriage. She also testified that she received psychological counseling during the marriage and was prescribed Lexapro. In addition to suffering from depression, she contemplated suicide during the marriage. Mary Lou testified that her health has significantly improved since the separation.

- 3. In the case of *Scaly v. Scaly*, 802 So. 2d 128, 131, (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), "Mrs. Scally offered testimony that during the course of their twenty-five years of marriage, Mr. Scally was moody, controlling, dominating, and verbally abusive. She testified that this conduct affected her health, and caused her to fear for her safety." The Court of Appeals upheld the granting of a divorce to Mrs. Scaly on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment.
- 4. The case of *Stone v. Stone*, 824 So. 2d 645 (Miss. Ct. of App. 2002) is particularly applicable to the Stein matter. In the *Stone* case, the Court of Appeals affirmed the granting of a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment. The Chancellor found that Mr. Stone had committed the following actions which constituted habitual cruel and inhuman treatment and those actions did not include any actual physical abuse. The Court considered the cumulative effect of Mr. Stone's actions, which included (1) repeated habitual

screaming in Mrs. Stone's face by Mr. Stone; (2) outbursts of temper by Mr. Stone when anger was physically displayed, including pushing or grabbing by Mr. Stone, which incidents frightened Mrs. Stone and created in her a reasonable apprehension of danger; (3) numerous displays of offensive vile language by Mr. Stone in the presence of Mrs. Stone, a woman of delicacy of sentiment; (4) Mr. Stone's continued critical complaints over the years of Mrs. Stone's overweight; (5) Mr. Stone's failure to show any affection towards Mrs. Stone; (6) repeated long periods of silence imposed by Mr. Stone when he would not speak to Mrs. Stone; and (7) Mr. Stone's constant criticism of Mrs. Stone over matters involving budget and finances.

- 5. In *Wires v. Wires*, 297 So. 2d 900 (Miss. 1974) this Court upheld the Chancellor's granting of a divorce on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment "where the proof showed that the wife was jealous and accused the husband of philandering with his secretary; that her bickering caused their son to leave home; and that she made anonymous calls to his secretary." The husband complained that her behavior caused him to have a "knot in his stomach." Here, Karen suffered much greater physical and emotional damage from Terry than a "knot" in her stomach.
- 6. As to the necessary corroboration of physical and/or emotional injury, Terry Stein complains that Karen's proof was not sufficiently corroborated. In *McIntosh v. McIntosh*, 977 So. 2d 1257 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) the Court affirmed the lower court and found that the testimony of friends and family corroborating the husband's depression and physical deterioration was "clear" and sufficient to prove the affect of the cruel and inhuman treatment. This Court, and our law, has never required the testimony of an expert witness to prove or corroborate mental or physical injury.

## C. SPECIFIC ACTS OF HABITUAL CRUEL AND INHUMAN TREATMENT:

Terri Stein committed twenty six years of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment against Karen.

### 1. REPEATED HABITUAL SCREAMING AND ANGRY TIRADES

Terry Stein routinely screamed at Karen about trivial matters. Terry used the same phrase over and over again when he wanted to chastise Karen, "Karen, come here! I want to show you something!" and then berated her incessantly.

Karen testified that while Terry was hitting or shoving her, he would be "right up in my face... and he was furious and his face would be as red and spitting. It was – very angry." Terry would be one inch from her face, screaming at her and calling her names - "stupid and dumbasss and stupid bitch." (T. 36/10-19) Terry had a regular habit of getting within inches of Karen's face on occasions "too many to count" and that this favorite tactic of his increased in frequency as the marriage went on. (T. 39/18-26) Karen testified that while Terry was screaming at her and was close to her face, he would "shove my shoulder many times." (T. 39/27-29) Karen said that the frequency of these assaults increased as the marriage went on. (T. 39/18-26)

Karen testified that Terry would get angry about some topic without provocation and would all of a sudden start in on her with, "Karen, come here." (T. 65/12-19) Karen testified that Terry habitually used a certain pet phrase when he was about to go on a tirade. She would hear, "Come here. I want to show you something." and she knew that she had done something wrong. (T. 67/15-18)

Terry Stein habitually exhibited rage and anger throughout his marriage to Karen. (T. 65/10) Karen described Terry when he was angry as "red and full of rage. He is full of rage." As Karen testified about Terry, erupting "out of the blue" she shook visibly and cried. (T. 65/20-27)

Karen testified that "standing up" to Terry made things worse and that she didn't start telling him he was not going to treat her the way he had in their marriage until later in their marriage. Terry laughed at her when she stood up for herself. (T. 65-27-29 and T. 1-6)

Terry Stein's anger intimidated Karen on a regular basis. Terry weighed 260 pounds at the time of separation and Karen weighed 120 or less throughout the marriage. (T. 34/24) Terry hit Karen "too many times to just say one." (T. 35/4) Terry hit Karen many times, hitting her on the shoulder and shoving her against a wall. (T. 36-1) Terry did not deny these actions.

Karen's sister Peggy witnessed Terry Stein's "explosive" behavior. He would scream loud and she indicated that she could not scream in the Courtroom as loud as Terry did as it would be "too loud." Peggy heard Terry scream at Karen in person and over the telephone. Peggy heard him curse Karen and call her stupid. Peggy spoke of overhearing Terry while she was on the telephone with Karen. Peggy said he was so loud you couldn't know what he was saying but that he was just screaming. She questioned her sister about how she could let Terry scream and holler at her like that, calling his raving "just so loud and volatile." (T. 123/17-28; T. 141/15-29; T. 142/1-6)

In describing Terry as a person, Peggy related Terry's habit of sulking, of just sitting in the den of the home with a scowl on his face, ready to blow up about anything. Peggy said that most of Terry's explosions were directed at Karen but she also witnessed him directing his tirades at their son. She observed the two of them screaming at each other with Nicholas calling his father a son of a bitch, reminding his father that he had already hit him and asking him if he wanted to hit him again. (T. 124/14-29) Nicholas incredibly denied his father ever hit him but admitted that he said what his Aunt Peggy heard. (T. 166/2-4)

Peggy told the Court how Karen would typically respond to Terry's rages. Karen never yelled back at Terry and would get very quiet. Karen didn't fight back. Karen retreated. Peggy recounted the fight she witnessed between Terry and their son Nicholas and said she was "embarrassed" and "shocked" and "frightened" at Terry's fury at Nicholas while Karen just "sat there" and didn't fight back or leave. (T. 6-19)

Peggy testified that Terry would be screaming so loudly and so fast at Karen that it was "just frightening." Peggy herself was intimidated by Terry, and she was aware that Karen was afraid of him. (T. 141-6)

#### 2. PHYSICAL ABUSE

Approximately ten years into the marriage, Terry hit Karen and gave her a black eye the night before a camping trip. Terry's entire family observed this black eye the very next day and did nothing. Karen was humiliated to be in the presence of his family with a black eye inflicted by Terry. (T. 35/9-29) On direct examination, Terry couldn't "recall" giving his wife a black eye, (T.210/2-4) This Court specifically asked Karen if she had been afraid of her husband and she directly answered, "Yes." (T. 115/23-29 and T. 116/1-8)

Karen testified about Terry popping her with a wet towel and causing whelps on her skin. (T. 36/20-29 and T. 37/1-9) Karen and Terry had gone camping with friends at the reservoir. Terry was intoxicated and Karen was wading in the water with some of the other women. (T.38/12-29)Terry ordered Karen out of the water and she disobeyed. When she did come out of the water, Terry took a wet towel and hit the back of her legs with it and did this in front of everyone gathered there. (T.39/1-17) Karen testified that Terry struck her hard with the wet towel, leaving marks on the back of her leg. Peggy Murphy was called to the reservoir to pick Karen up and she saw the raised whelps on Karen's thighs. (T. 126/7-25) Karen was embarrassed

and humiliated to be treated that way in front of other people. The guests looked away, embarrassed at being witnesses to the scene. (T. 39/9-13) Terry did not deny the incident at the reservoir but stated he couldn't "recall" it. (T. 201 21-27)

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